
 

 

GRAND HAVEN BOARD OF LIGHT AND POWER MEETING AGENDA 
Thursday, August 17, 2023 

Meeting to be held at 1700 Eaton Drive 
6:00 PM 

 

1. Call to Order / Roll Call / Excuse Absent Members 
 

2. Approve Meeting Agenda 
 

3. Public Comment Period 
 

4. Consent Agenda 
A. Approve Minutes of the July 20, 2023, Board Meeting and the August 1, 2023, Board Work 

Session 
B. Receive and File: July Financial Statements, Power Supply and Retail Sales Dashboards 
C. Receive and File: July Key Performance Indicator (KPI) Dashboard (provided at meeting) 
D. Receive and File: MPPA Energy Services Project Resource Position Report (dated 07/28/2023) 
E. Receive and File: Constellation Energy Market Update Graphs (dated 8/08/2023) 
F. Receive and File: Walters Public Comments at 8/07/2023 City Council Meeting 
G. Approve Payment of Bills ($4,814,566.75 in total) 

1. In the amount of $3,969,478.11 from the Operation & Maintenance Fund 
2. In the amount of $845,088.64 from the Renewal & Replacement Fund 
 

5. General Manager’s Report 
A. Approve Purchase Orders ($136,740 in total) 

1. PO #22740, Power Line Supply Company, $58,130 (LED street lighting fixtures) 
2. PO #22749, Power Line Supply Company, $11,960 (Tri-plex wire to replenish stock)  
3. PO #22754, Premier Line Services, LLC, $45,867 (Annual switchgear cleaning maintenance 

services) 
4. PO #22756, Brown Wood Preserving Company, Inc., $20,783 (26 wood distribution poles to 

replenish stock) 
B. Authorize Revised Power Purchase Commitment for Savion Calhoun Solar Project  
C. “Reviewing the Record” Presentation (Erik Booth) 
D. Approve Board Resolution Regarding General Employee Benefits  

   
6. Chairman’s Report 

A. Report of Meeting with Ferrysburg Mayor/City Manager 
 
7. Other Business 

 
8. Public Comment 

 
9. Adjourn 











 GRAND HAVEN BOARD OF LIGHT AND POWER 
MINUTES 

JULY 20, 2023 
 

 - 1 -  
  
 

A regularly scheduled meeting of the Grand Haven Board of Light and Power was held on 
Thursday, July 20, 2023, at 6:00 PM at the Board’s office located at 1700 Eaton Drive in Grand 
Haven, Michigan and electronically via live Zoom Meeting.  

The meeting was called to order at 6:00 PM by Chairperson Westbrook. 

Present: Directors Crum, Hendrick, Knoth, Witherell and Westbrook. 

Absent: None. 

Others Present: General Manager David Walters, Secretary to the Board Danielle Martin, 
Finance Manager Lynn Diffell, Operations & Power Supply Manager Erik Booth, and 
Distribution & Engineering Manager Rob Shelley. Attending remotely were representatives from 
HDR.  

Motion: Director Crum, supported by Director Knoth, moved to approve the meeting agenda. 

23-11A Chairperson Westbrook, supported by Director Witherell, moved to amend the meeting 
agenda by adding items 4I Receive and File Information Submitted by Former Mayor Geri 
McCaleb and 9A Schedule a Work Session August 1, 2023 to Review with Truscott Rossman 
Potential Information Materials Regarding the BLPCCC Amendment.  

Roll Call Vote: 

In favor: Directors Crum, Knoth, Witherell and Westbrook; Opposed: Director Hendrick. 
Motion carried.  

23-11B Director Crum, supported by Director Knoth, moved to approve the meeting agenda as 
amended.  

Roll Call Vote: 

In favor: Directors Crum, Hendrick, Knoth, Witherell and Westbrook; Opposed: None. 
Motion carried.  

Public Comment Period: 

Mike Fritz, 225 Clinton Avenue, commented on electric vehicle charging stations and asked the 
Board to work with City officials and businesses on this item. He thanked Board directors for the 
work they do as elected officials.  

Jeff Miller, 1120 S. Harbor Drive, commented on the advisory committee created at the Board’s 
June meeting and offered to lend his experience. He stated elected officials engaging with the 
public is a good thing.  

Mike Welling, 1226 Fulton Avenue, commented on the Harbor Island soccer field. He stated 
former dump materials are below the field and that fact seems overlooked in the HDR 
presentation.  



 GRAND HAVEN BOARD OF LIGHT AND POWER 
MINUTES 

JULY 20, 2023 
 

 - 2 -  
  
 

23-11C Director Knoth, supported by Director Witherell, moved to approve the consent agenda. 
The consent agenda includes: 

 Approve Minutes of the June 29, 2023, Board meeting 

 Accept and file the June Financial Statements, Power Supply and Retail Sales 
Dashboards 

 Accept and file the June Key Performance Indicator (KPI) Dashboard 

 Accept and file the MPPA Energy Services Project Resource Position Report (dated 
06/30/2023) 

 Accept and file the Constellation Energy Market Update Graphs (dated 7/11/2023) 

 Accept and file the MERS Annual Actuarial Valuation Report for GHBLP (dated 
12/31/2022) 

 Approve paying bills in the amount of $2,556,684.66 from the Operation & 
Maintenance Fund 

 Approve paying bills in the amount of $747,926.48 from the Renewal & Replacement 
Fund 

 Confirm Purchase Order 22715 in the amount of $24,000.00 to Zervas Facility 
Maintenance for annual cleaning services 

 Receive and File Information Submitted by Former Mayor Geri McCaleb 

Roll Call Vote: 

In favor: Directors Crum, Hendrick, Knoth, Witherell and Westbrook; Opposed: None. 
Motion carried.  

23-11D Representatives from HDR provided an update on the Harbor Island project. Background 
monitoring is nearing completion, and the next steps will begin in the fall/winter. The General 
Manager requested a process be established for the Board and staff to receive new data to be able 
to accurately respond to inquiries from the public. No overall cost estimates are currently 
available. HDR will be at the Board’s September 28, 2023 meeting with another update.  

 No formal action taken.  

23-11E Director Crum, supported by Director Knoth, moved to approve the Purchase Orders. The 
Purchase Orders include: 

 Purchase Order 22717 in the amount of $60,000.00 to GRP Engineering for design 
engineering and C/A for Morford substation upgrades 



 GRAND HAVEN BOARD OF LIGHT AND POWER 
MINUTES 

JULY 20, 2023 
 

 - 3 -  
  
 

 Purchase Order 22719 in the amount of $6,000.00 to Tri-Cities Broadcasting 
Foundation (WAWL) for FY24 community outreach and PSAs 

 Purchase Order 22723 in the amount of $8,347.50 to WGHN radio station for FY24 
community outreach and PSAs 

 Purchase Order 22724 in the amount of $45,000.00 to Boileau Communications for 
FY24 customer communications and education assistance 

Roll Call Vote: 

In favor: Directors Crum, Hendrick, Knoth, Witherell and Westbrook; Opposed: None. 
Motion carried.  

23-11F Rob Shelley provided a distribution and capital projects update. The presentation 
highlighted six projects that have been in progress over the past twelve months. Overall, projects 
are being completed on time and under budget. We have had difficulties with vehicle 
replacements, which are increasing in both price and lead time.  

No formal action taken.  

23-11G The General Manager provided an initial fiscal year-end budget to actual review. June’s 
monthly income statement provided in the Board package shows a preliminary year-end summary 
without year-end adjustments. Operating revenue was only 1.53% below budget, indicating good 
planning and implementation by Staff. Four-year balance sheet and income statement 
comparisons were also provided. Construction of a power supply portfolio through MPPA 
following the decommissioning of the Sims power plant was a big task. Besides cash flow, which 
has been impacted by Harbor Island project delays, we have met all Strategic Plan financial goals 
for the past year.  

No formal action taken. 

23-11H Erik Booth provided a renewable energy progress report. Our sustainability program 
includes three components: Energy Optimization & Waste Reduction, Renewable Energy, 
and the Green Energy Program. These three programs focus on the balance between 
sustainability, affordability, and reliability.  

The BLP’s goal is to have 30% renewables in our portfolio by 2030. We are experiencing 
delays and increased costs associated with planned solar projects. Landfill gas will phase out 
of our portfolio in 2026-2027 and will need to be replaced with solar. The BLP does not own 
any property suitable for local solar installations. If the community desires local solar 
installations, a site must be identified and the BLP can then install the necessary equipment.  

The Green Energy Rider provision is available to any BLP customer who desires to support 
green energy purchases. Customers can enroll through a simple process at ghblp.org.  



 GRAND HAVEN BOARD OF LIGHT AND POWER 
MINUTES 

JULY 20, 2023 
 

 - 4 -  
  
 

No formal action taken. 

23-11I Director Westbrook, supported by Director Crum, moved authorize the Chair and 
General Manager to present what the Board found to ratepayers in Ferrysburg.  

Service to municipalities outside of the City of Grand Haven is granted by individual 
franchise agreements. The BLP is a franchised provider in five jurisdictions. The franchise 
agreements are perpetual, but revocable at will. The BLP makes payments in lieu of taxes to 
all municipalities it serves.  

Chairman Westbrook would like to respond to the letter received from the City of Ferrysburg 
via an in-person discussion. 

Roll Call Vote: 

In favor: Directors Crum, Witherell and Westbrook; Opposed: Directors Knoth and 
Hendrick.  
Motion carried.  

23-11J Director Hendrick, supported by Director Knoth, moved to authorize the General 
Manager to execute short-term contracts for identified employees pending a legal review. 

The proposed charter change amendment reduces department head positions from three to 
one. If approved, the short-term contracts would allow department heads to receive severance 
pay if they are not offered an equivalent position with the city should the amendment pass.  

Roll Call Vote: 

In favor: Directors Crum, Hendrick, Knoth, Witherell and Westbrook; Opposed: None. 
Motion carried.  

Other Business 

By consensus, a Board Work Session was scheduled for Tuesday, August 1, 2023 at 6:00pm to 
receive an update on the work being done by Truscott Rossman.  

The General Manager provided further information regarding electric vehicle charging stations. 
The city has the authority and responsibility to determine where stations should be installed and 
install them downtown as the city owns the parking spots. The BLP would have the authority and 
responsibility to extend our system to these stations. We could also own and operate them in our 
own parking lot. The BLP would establish service to the charging station and sell power to the 
city, not the end user, at a set rate for any electricity used.  

Public Comment Period  

Chairman Westbrook read a comment received July 14, 2023 from Winnie Canavan, 15871 
Mercury Drive, stating she loves our service and the people that work here. She feels that 



 GRAND HAVEN BOARD OF LIGHT AND POWER 
MINUTES 

JULY 20, 2023 
 

 - 5 -  
  
 

people that have this service should have the right to vote to keep the Board of Light and 
Power, not just city residents. 

Adjournment 

At 9:48 PM by motion of Director Hendrick, supported by Director Knoth, the July 20, 2023 
Board meeting was unanimously adjourned.  

 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
 
Danielle Martin 
Secretary to the Board      

DM 
  

 



 GRAND HAVEN BOARD OF LIGHT AND POWER 
WORK SESSION MINUTES 

AUGUST 1, 2023 
 

 - 1 -  
  
 

A work session of the Grand Haven Board of Light and Power was held on Tuesday, August 1, 
2023, at 6:00 PM at the Board’s office located at 1700 Eaton Drive in Grand Haven, Michigan 
and electronically via live Zoom Meeting.  

The work session was called to order at 6:00 PM by Chairperson Westbrook. 

Present: Directors Crum, Hendrick, Knoth, Witherell and Westbrook. 

Absent: None. 

Others Present: General Manager David Walters, Secretary to the Board Danielle Martin, 
Operations & Power Supply Manager Erik Booth, and Distribution & Engineering Manager Rob 
Shelley. Attending remotely were representatives from Truscott Rossman. 

23-12A Director Hendrick, supported by Director Knoth, moved to approve the meeting agenda.  

Roll Call Vote: 

In favor: Directors Crum, Hendrick, Knoth, Witherell and Westbrook; Opposed: None.  
Motion carried.  

Public Comment Period: No comments were heard.  

23-12B John Truscott, Truscott Rossman, presented the Community Communication Plan.  

The goal of the plan is to disseminate factual information in a clear and concise way concerning the 
issues that are relevant to the overall public. The messaging will be based on the key pillars of 
reliability, affordability, and sustainability. General strategy and tactics were discussed. An editorial 
calendar is being developed.  

No formal action taken.  

Adjournment 

At 6:52 PM by motion of Director Hendrick, supported by Director Knoth, the August 1, 2023 
Board work session was unanimously adjourned.  

 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
 
Danielle Martin 
Secretary to the Board      

DM 
  

 



 

 

JULY 2023 JULY 2022

 

ASSETS
     CURRENT ASSETS

       CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS $17,755,942 $30,762,620

       ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 4,667,126 4,338,659

       PREPAID 179,471 9,432

22,602,539 35,110,711

 

     NON-CURRENT ASSETS

       DEPOSITS HELD BY MPIA 8,978,982 6,693,217

       DEPOSITS HELD BY MPPA 2,500,000 2,500,000

       HEALTH BENEFIT FUND 464 104,625

       ADVANCE TO CITY OF GRAND HAVEN 708,685 1,037,151

       MITIGATION FUND 13,603,974 0

       2021A BOND MITIGATION FUND 2,372,184 0

       2021A BOND CONSTRUCTION FUND 4,983,023 11,118,065

       2021A BOND REDEMPTION FUND 1,432,138 1,375,315

34,579,450 22,828,373

 

     CAPITAL ASSETS

       CONSTRUCTION IN PROGRESS 1,308,633 555,753

       PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 66,525,483 63,458,603

         LESS ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION (30,493,923) (29,532,241)

37,340,193 34,482,115

 

     TOTAL ASSETS $94,522,182 $92,421,199

 

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS/(INFLOWS)
       PENSION/OPEB RELATED 4,681,112 (1,711,125)

 

LIABILITIES
     CURRENT LIABILITIES

       ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 1,741,361                           1,591,534                           

       SERIES 2021A BOND CURRENT 2,429,888                           2,332,917                           

       ACCRUED PAYROLL LIABILITIES 193,986                               422,280                               

       CUSTOMER DEPOSITS 975,127                               858,825                               

       ACCRUED TRANSFER FUND 180,668                               165,089                               

5,521,030 5,370,645

 

 

     LONG TERM LIABILITIES

       ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATION - MITIGATION 16,889,005 16,132,201

       ACCRUED SICK AND PTO 285,391                               310,394                               

       SERIES 2021A BOND 20,300,000 22,700,000

       NET PENSION LIABILITIES 6,301,362                           1,186,594                           

       NET OTHER POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFIT 500,888 638,925

44,276,646 40,968,114

 

          TOTAL LIABILITIES 49,797,676 46,338,759

 

 

     RETAINED EARNINGS

       BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 48,939,348 44,505,093

       YTD NET INCOME 466,270 (133,778)

          RETAINED EARNINGS 49,405,618 44,371,315

 

    TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY $99,203,294 $90,710,074

GRAND HAVEN BOARD OF LIGHT AND POWER

BALANCE SHEET

FOR THE MONTH ENDING JULY 2023

8/10/2023



GRAND HAVEN BOARD OF LIGHT AND POWER

STATEMENT OF REVENUES AND EXPENSES

FOR THE MONTH OF JULY 2023

 

 

Percent Percent

Current Period YTD YTD Variance Variance Previous Year Previous Year Variance Variance

Actual Actual Budget Over (Under) Actual vs Budget Current Period YTD Over (Under) Actual vs Last Year

Operating Revenue

 

Residential Sales 1,311,825$        1,311,825$     1,224,078$     87,747$             7.17% 1,246,305$        1,246,305$      65,520$                5.26%

Commercial Sales 980,999              980,999          975,124          5,875                  0.60% 921,918              921,918           59,081                  6.41%

Industrial Sales 1,092,917          1,092,917       1,214,610       (121,693)            -10.02% 1,003,560          1,003,560        89,357                  8.90%

Municipal Sales 107,335              107,335          96,088            11,247                11.70% 101,752              101,752           5,583                    5.49%

  Total Charges for Services 3,493,076          3,493,076       3,509,900       (16,824)              -0.48% 3,273,535          3,273,535        219,541                6.71%

 

Street Lighting 28,537                28,537            27,917            620                     2.22% 28,238                28,238              299                       1.06%

 

Other Revenue 13,518                13,518            14,523            (1,005)                -6.92% 19,429                19,429              (5,911)                   -30.42%

   Total Operating Revenue 3,535,131          3,535,131       3,552,340       (17,209)              -0.48% 3,321,202          3,321,202        213,929                6.44%

 

Operating Expenses

  Net Purchased Power 2,291,760          2,291,760       2,043,725       248,035             12.14% 2,589,754          2,589,754        (297,994)              -11.51%

  Distribution Operations 130,834              130,834          161,900          (31,066)              -19.19% 171,542              171,542           (40,708)                -23.73%

  Distribution Maintenance 232,165              232,165          296,657          (64,492)              -21.74% 255,386              255,386           (23,221)                -9.09%

  Energy Optimization 8,800                  8,800               22,917            (14,117)              -61.60% 12,150                12,150              (3,350)                   -27.57%

  Administration 198,126              198,126          261,899          (63,773)              -24.35% 200,621              200,621           (2,495)                   -1.24%

  Legacy Pension Expense 43,068                43,068            41,536            1,532                  3.69% 53,551                53,551              (10,483)                -                      

Operating Expenses Before Depreciation 2,904,753          2,904,753       2,828,634       76,119                2.69% 3,283,004          3,283,004        (378,251)              -11.52%

 

Operating Net Income Before Depreciation 630,378              630,378          723,706          (93,328)              -12.90% 38,198                38,198              592,180                1550.29%

 

Depreciation 175,224              175,224          168,666          6,558                  3.89% 167,043              167,043           8,181                    4.90%

    Operating Net Income 455,154              455,154          555,040          (99,886)              -18.00% (128,845)            (128,845)          583,999                -453.26%

 

Nonoperating Revenue/(Expenses) 100,044              100,044          50,858            49,186                96.71% 160,156              160,156           (60,112)                -37.53%

Asset Retirement Expense -                           -                       (83,333)           83,333                -100.00% -                           -                        -                        #DIV/0!

Environmental Surcharge 91,740                91,740            83,333            8,407                  10.09% -                           -                        91,740                  #DIV/0!

Non-Operating Revenue/(Expenses) 191,784              191,784          50,858            140,926             277.10% 160,156              160,156           31,628                  19.75%

Transfers to City of Grand Haven (180,668)            (180,668)         (159,729)         (20,939)              13.11% (165,089)            (165,089)          (15,579)                9.44%

 

    Increase in Net Assets 466,270$            466,270$        446,169$        20,101$             4.51% (133,778)$          (133,778)$        600,048$             -448.54%

8/10/2023



Power Supply for Month (kWh) FY2024 FY2023

Net Purchased (Sold) Power 22,552,551                        78.99% 24,302,289                        81.64%

Renewable Energy Purchases 5,997,900                          21.01% 5,466,438                          18.36%

Monthly Power Supply Total 28,550,451                        29,768,727                        

Days in Month 31 31

Average Daily kWh Supply for Month 920,982 960,282

% Change -4.09%

Power Supply FYTD FY2024 FY2023

Net Purchased (Sold) Power 22,552,551                        78.99% 24,302,289                        81.64%

Renewable Energy Purchases 5,997,900                          21.01% 5,466,438                          18.36%

FYTD Power Supply Total 28,550,451                        29,768,727                        

FYTD Days (from 7/1) 31 31

Average Daily kWh Supply FYTD 920,982 960,282

% Change -4.09%

FY2024 FY2023

Net Purchased Power Expenses $2,291,760 $2,589,754

% Change -11.51%

Net Energy Expenses

per kWh Supplied to System FYTD $0.08027 $0.08700

% Change -7.73%

GRAND HAVEN BOARD OF LIGHT AND POWER

POWER SUPPLY DASHBOARD

FOR THE MONTH OF JULY 2023

8/10/2023



Monthly Retail Customers FY2024 FY2023

Residential 13,074 87.40% 13,027 87.52%

Commercial 1,642 10.98% 1,613 10.84%

Industrial 127 0.85% 128 0.86%

Municipal 116 0.78% 117 0.79%

Total 14,959 14,885

Monthly Energy Sold (kWh)

Residential 9,034,065 34.35% 9,281,234 34.48%

Commercial 7,185,857 27.33% 7,317,439 27.19%

Industrial 9,086,936 34.56% 9,273,695 34.46%

Municipal 901,129 3.43% 956,702 3.55%

Retail Monthly Total 26,207,987 99.66% 26,829,070 99.68%

Street Lighting 89,009 0.34% 85,119 0.32%

Total Monthly Energy Sold 26,296,996 26,914,189

Days in Primary Meter Cycle 30 30

kWh Sold per Day 876,567 897,140

% Change -2.29%

Energy Sold (kWh) FYTD FY2024 FY2023

Residential 9,034,065 34.35% 9,281,234 34.48%

Commercial 7,185,857 27.33% 7,317,439 27.19%

Industrial 9,086,936 34.56% 9,273,695 34.46%

Municipal 901,129 3.43% 956,702 3.55%

Retail Energy  Sold Total FYTD 26,207,987 99.66% 26,829,070 99.68%

Street Lighting 89,009 0.34% 85,119 0.32%

Energy Sold FYTD 26,296,996 26,914,189

Weighted Days in Meter Cycles FYTD 30 30

kWh Sold per Day 876,567 897,140

% Change -2.29%

Average Rate Average Rate Percent Change

Sales Revenue FYTD FY2024 ($/kWh) FY2023 ($/KWh) $/kWh

Residential $1,311,825 $0.1452 $1,246,305 $0.1343 8.14%

Commercial $980,999 $0.1365 $921,918 $0.1260 8.36%

Industrial $1,092,917 $0.1203 $1,003,560 $0.1082 11.14%

Municipal $107,335 $0.1191 $101,751 $0.1064 11.99%

Retail Sales Revenue FYTD $3,493,075 $0.1333 $3,273,534 $0.1220 9.24%

Street Lighting $28,537 $28,238

Total Sales Revenue FYTD (Excl. Wholesale) $3,521,612 $0.1339 $3,301,772 $0.1227

FY2024 FY2023

Approx. Distribution Losses FYTD 4.82% 6.58%

Net Energy Expenses/kWh Sold FYTD $0.08414 $0.09272

% Change -9.25%

GRAND HAVEN BOARD OF LIGHT AND POWER

SALES DASHBOARD

FOR THE MONTH OF JULY 2023

8/10/2023



Page 1 of 4

Forecasted Power Supply Resource Position for GRAN

Total Resources, MWh 
Project Assets

Landfill Project
Contracted Power Supply

Contracted ESP Renewable PPAs
Contracted Bilateral Energy Transactions

26,555 21,622 20,745 20,233 20,292 20,003 18,697 19,357 17,302 18,275 20,693 24,611
1,823 1,849 1,956 1,892 1,898 2,025 1,832 1,965 1,986 1,990 1,823 1,800
1,823 1,849 1,956 1,892 1,898 2,025 1,832 1,965 1,986 1,990 1,823 1,800

24,732 19,773 18,789 18,341 18,394 17,978 16,865 17,392 15,316 16,284 18,870 22,811
4,628 4,341 4,110 4,190 3,235 3,120 3,849 5,166 4,652 5,240 5,198 4,993

20,104 15,432 14,679 14,150 15,159 14,858 13,015 12,226 10,664 11,045 13,672 17,818

Aug 23 Sep 23 Oct 23 Nov 23 Dec 23 Jan 24 Feb 24 Mar 24 Apr 24 May 24 Jun 24 Jul 24Power Supply, MWh
Total Resources, MWh 
Project Assets

Landfill Project
Contracted Power Supply

Contracted ESP Renewable PPAs
Contracted Bilateral Energy Transactions

240,097 196,193 151,571 107,291 80,917
22,839 22,314 21,581 15,224 8,113
22,839 22,314 21,581 15,224 8,113

217,258 173,879 129,990 92,067 72,804
52,710 57,894 61,308 61,246 61,184

164,547 115,985 68,682 30,821 11,621

2024 2025 2026 2027 2028Power Supply, MWh

Forecasted Hedge Plan % (w/o Peaking)
Minimum Hedge Plan %
Target Hedge %
Maximum Hedge Plan Range %
Renewables Portfolio %
Forecasted Load
Forecasted Market Balancing, MWh
Forecasted Hedge % (w/ Peaking)

85% 87% 90% 93% 87% 80% 80% 80% 79% 79% 79% 80%
75% 75% 75% 75% 75% 75% 75% 75% 75% 75% 75% 75%
75% 75% 75% 75% 75% 75% 75% 75% 75% 75% 75% 75%
95% 95% 95% 95% 95% 95% 95% 95% 95% 95% 95% 95%
21% 25% 26% 28% 22% 20% 24% 29% 30% 31% 27% 22%

(31,084) (24,725) (23,157) (21,855) (23,226) (25,113) (23,332) (24,328) (21,907) (23,028) (26,192) (30,893)
(4,529) (3,103) (2,411) (1,622) (2,934) (5,110) (4,635) (4,971) (4,605) (4,753) (5,499) (6,282)

85% 87% 90% 93% 87% 80% 80% 80% 79% 79% 79% 80%

Aug 23 Sep 23 Oct 23 Nov 23 Dec 23 Jan 24 Feb 24 Mar 24 Apr 24 May 24 Jun 24 Jul 24

Forecasted ATC Power Supply Resource Position, by Month

Fo
re

ca
st

ed
 H

ed
ge

 P
la

n 
%

Aug 23 Sep 23 Oct 23 Nov 23 Dec 23 Jan 24 Feb 24 Mar 24 Apr 24 May 24 Jun 24 Jul 24
0 %

50 %

100 % 80%75%

75%

75%

75%

75%

75%

75%

75%

75%

75%

75%

75%

75%

75%

75%

75%

95%

95%

95%

95%

95%

95%

21%

25%

26%

28% 22%

20%

24%

29%

30%

31% 27% 22%

GRAN is forecasted to have an average of 83% of Around the Clock (ATC) Power Supply hedged over the upcoming 12 months, and Renewable Energy Resources are forecasted to provide an average of 25% towards load.
Total Resources are forecasted to cost an average of $47.93 Per MWh, and Market Balancing Energy is forecasted to come in at an average of $45.29 per MWh. This results in a Total Forecasted Power Supply weighted average cost of $48.06 over the upcoming 12 months.

Forecasted ATC Power Supply Resource Position, by Year

Fo
re

ca
st

ed
 H

ed
ge

 P
la

n 
%

2024 2025 2026 2027 2028
0 %

50 %

100 % 80%
75% 65%

50%

35% 25%

25%

27%

27%

25%

23%

Minimum Hedge Plan % Target Hedge % Maximum Hedge Plan Range % Renewables Portfolio % Forecasted Hedge Plan % (w/o Peaking)

Forecasted Hedge Plan % (w/o Peaking)
Minimum Hedge Plan %
Target Hedge %
Maximum Hedge Plan Range %
Renewables Portfolio %
Forecasted Load
Forecasted Market Balancing, MWh
Forecasted Hedge % (w/ Peaking)

80% 65% 50% 35% 27%
75% 65% 50% 35% 25%
75% 65% 50% 35% 25%
95% 80% 70% 55% 40%
25% 27% 27% 25% 23%

(301,114) (301,590) (302,031) (302,440) (302,782)
(61,017) (105,397) (150,460) (195,149) (221,865)

80% 65% 50% 35% 27%

2024 2025 2026 2027 2028



Page 2 of 4

Total Resources, $'s 
Project Assets

Landfill Project
Contracted Power Supply

Contracted ESP Renewable PPAs
Contracted Bilateral Energy Transactions

($1,323,341) ($953,491) ($890,184) ($863,895) ($900,218) ($1,196,638) ($1,037,007) ($833,879) ($798,487) ($847,958) ($947,782) ($1,311,448)
($213,100) ($206,287) ($213,100) ($207,950) ($213,835) ($221,452) ($200,212) ($113,622) ($214,372) ($221,459) ($214,372) ($222,216)
($213,100) ($206,287) ($213,100) ($207,950) ($213,835) ($221,452) ($200,212) ($113,622) ($214,372) ($221,459) ($214,372) ($222,216)

($1,110,241) ($747,205) ($677,084) ($655,945) ($686,384) ($975,186) ($836,795) ($720,256) ($584,115) ($626,499) ($733,409) ($1,089,232)
($199,089) ($189,001) ($181,069) ($187,160) ($145,309) ($141,542) ($174,055) ($231,023) ($206,885) ($232,621) ($229,079) ($218,842)
($911,152) ($558,203) ($496,015) ($468,785) ($541,075) ($833,644) ($662,739) ($489,233) ($377,230) ($393,878) ($504,331) ($870,390)

Aug 23 Sep 23 Oct 23 Nov 23 Dec 23 Jan 24 Feb 24 Mar 24 Apr 24 May 24 Jun 24 Jul 24Power Supply $'s

Locational Basis, $'s 
Locational Basis (Projects)
Locational Basis (Contracted Power Supply)

($807) ($762) ($531) ($1,296) $1,152 ($1,449) ($3,491) ($1,190) ($492) ($887) ($144) $23
($13,969) ($17,517) ($17,952) ($10,072) ($24,334) ($21,593) ($3,784) ($14,865) ($18,623) ($6,804) ($11,453) ($2,849)

Aug 23 Sep 23 Oct 23 Nov 23 Dec 23 Jan 24 Feb 24 Mar 24 Apr 24 May 24 Jun 24 Jul 24Locational Basis, $'s

Power Supply $/MWh
Project Assets

Landfill Project
Contracted Power Supply

Contracted ESP Renewable PPAs
Contracted Bilateral Energy Transactions

$116.88 $111.57 $108.95 $109.91 $112.67 $109.35 $109.29 $57.81 $107.96 $111.27 $117.60 $123.47

$43.02 $43.54 $44.06 $44.67 $44.92 $45.36 $45.22 $44.72 $44.47 $44.40 $44.07 $43.83
$45.32 $36.17 $33.79 $33.13 $35.69 $56.11 $50.92 $40.02 $35.37 $35.66 $36.89 $48.85

Aug 23 Sep 23 Oct 23 Nov 23 Dec 23 Jan 24 Feb 24 Mar 24 Apr 24 May 24 Jun 24 Jul 24Power Supply $/MWh

Locational Basis, $/MWh 
Locational Basis (Projects)
Locational Basis (Contracted Power Supply)

$0.44 $0.41 $0.27 $0.68 ($0.61) $0.72 $1.91 $0.61 $0.25 $0.45 $0.08 ($0.01)
$0.56 $0.89 $0.96 $0.55 $1.32 $1.20 $0.22 $0.85 $1.22 $0.42 $0.61 $0.12

Aug 23 Sep 23 Oct 23 Nov 23 Dec 23 Jan 24 Feb 24 Mar 24 Apr 24 May 24 Jun 24 Jul 24Locational Basis, $/MWh

Forecasted Power Supply Resource Cost, by Month

$/
M

W
h

Aug 23 Sep 23 Oct 23 Nov 23 Dec 23 Jan 24 Feb 24 Mar 24 Apr 24 May 24 Jun 24 Jul 24
30$

40$

50$

60$

70$

$39.21 $39.01 $37.96
$40.63

$47.15

$60.33

$52.34

$43.54
$40.73 $42.92 $44.93

$54.67

$48.76
$44.20 $43.19 $43.07

$55.16

$45.88 $46.02 $46.06
$53.66

$49.83

$44.36

Forecasted Market Balancing LMP, $/MWh
Forecasted Market Balancing LMP, $'s
Total Forecasted Power Supply, $/MWh
Total Forecasted Power Supply Costs, $'s

$39.21 $39.01 $37.96 $40.63 $47.15 $60.33 $52.34 $43.54 $40.73 $42.92 $44.93 $54.67
($177,548) ($121,038) ($91,531) ($65,915) ($138,331) ($308,272) ($242,618) ($216,463) ($187,563) ($204,009) ($247,040) ($343,450)

$48.76 $44.20 $43.19 $43.07 $45.71 $60.84 $55.16 $43.83 $45.88 $46.02 $46.06 $53.66
($1,515,666) ($1,092,809) ($1,000,197) ($941,177) ($1,061,731) ($1,527,953) ($1,286,900) ($1,066,398) ($1,005,165) ($1,059,658) ($1,206,418) ($1,657,723)

Aug 23 Sep 23 Oct 23 Nov 23 Dec 23 Jan 24 Feb 24 Mar 24 Apr 24 May 24 Jun 24 Jul 24

Forecasted Market Balancing LMP, $/MWh Total Forecasted Power Supply, $/MWh Contracted Energy, $/MWh

Locational Basis, $/MWh 
Locational Basis (Projects)
Locational Basis (Contracted Power Supply)

$0.46 $0.47 $0.49 $0.79 $0.29
$0.77 $0.93 $1.12 $1.38 $1.58

2024 2025 2026 2027 2028Locational Basis, $/MWh

Power Supply $/MWh
Project Assets

Landfill Project
Contracted Power Supply

Contracted ESP Renewable PPAs
Contracted Bilateral Energy Transactions

$109.61 $111.95 $118.53 $120.63 $124.38

$44.62 $45.75 $46.66 $47.42 $48.20
$42.77 $44.09 $50.75 $59.62 $66.32

2024 2025 2026 2027 2028Power Supply $/MWh

Locational Basis, $'s 
Locational Basis (Projects)
Locational Basis (Contracted Power Supply)

($10,412) ($10,523) ($10,614) ($12,103) ($2,332)
($166,343) ($162,087) ($145,951) ($127,159) ($115,334)

2024 2025 2026 2027 2028Locational Basis, $'s

Total Resources, $'s 
Project Assets

Landfill Project
Contracted Power Supply

Contracted ESP Renewable PPAs
Contracted Bilateral Energy Transactions

($11,892,994) ($10,260,668) ($8,904,320) ($6,578,465) ($4,728,873)
($2,503,299) ($2,497,970) ($2,557,919) ($1,836,474) ($1,009,081)
($2,503,299) ($2,497,970) ($2,557,919) ($1,836,474) ($1,009,081)

($9,389,694) ($7,762,698) ($6,346,401) ($4,741,991) ($3,719,792)
($2,352,201) ($2,648,790) ($2,860,469) ($2,904,383) ($2,949,048)
($7,037,494) ($5,113,908) ($3,485,932) ($1,837,608) ($770,743)

2024 2025 2026 2027 2028Power Supply $'s

Forecasted Market Balancing LMP, $/MWh
Forecasted Market Balancing LMP, $'s
Total Forecasted Power Supply, $/MWh
Total Forecasted Power Supply Costs, $'s

$47.31 $50.43 $52.39 $53.27 $53.77
($2,886,643) ($5,314,951) ($7,882,161) ($10,395,777) ($11,930,007)

$49.67 $52.22 $56.10 $56.58 $55.41
($14,956,391) ($15,748,228) ($16,943,047) ($17,113,504) ($16,776,546)

2024 2025 2026 2027 2028

Forecasted Power Supply Resource Cost, by Year

$/
M

W
h

2024 2025 2026 2027 2028
45$

50$

55$

60$

65$

$47.31 $50.43

$52.39 $53.27 $53.77

$49.67
$52.22

$56.10 $56.58
$58.75

$61.31

$58.44

Project Asset Costs are as forecasted in the MPPA Financial Plan, including fixed costs and all other anticipated costs in addition to Energy costs. 



Page 3 of 4

Zone 7
Contracted Power Supply

Contracted ESP Renewable PPAs
Contracted Bilateral Capacity Transactions

Planning Reserve Margin Requirement
PRMR

Project Assets
Landfill Project

AEP
Project Assets

Landfill Project

16.102 22.041 23.208 27.343
81.053 79.344 74.213 80.831

9.753 8.044 2.913 9.531
71.300 71.300 71.300 71.300

(67.000) (59.400) (53.200) (55.700)
(67.000) (59.400) (53.200) (55.700)

2.049 2.098 2.195 2.211
2.049 2.098 2.195 2.211
0.472 0.472 0.472 0.472
0.472 0.472 0.472 0.472
0.472 0.472 0.472 0.472

PY 24/25
Sum Fall Win SprCapacity Resources, MW

Forecasted Capacity Resource Position in Load Zone

Ca
pa

ci
ty

 (M
W

)

Sum Fall Win Spr

PY 24/25

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

16.102

22.041 23.208
27.343

67.000

59.400

53.200
55.700

Forecasted Capacity Resource Cost By Zone, $'s

Sum Fall Win Spr

PY 24/25

($1,000K)

($500K)

$0K

$500K

$1,000K

$14,879

AEP Zone 7 Net Capacity Bilaterals Zone 7 Net Capacity Position Total Capacity Position Revenue or (Cost)

Forecasted Capacity Resource Cost By Zone, $/kw-mo.

Sum Fall Win Spr

PY 24/25

$0.00

$10.00

$20.00

$30.00

$8.66

AEP Zone 7 Net Capacity Bilaterals Zone 7 Net Capacity Position Total Capacity Position

Project Assets

Contracted Power Supply

Net Capacity Position

PRMR

Zone 7
Net Capacity Position

$
$/kw-mo.

Net Capacity Bilaterals
$
$/kw-mo.

AEP
Net Capacity Position

$
$/kw-mo.

$966,120.00 $198,369.00 $69,624.00 $82,029.00
$20.00 $3.00 $1.00 $1.00

($953,391.00) ($953,391.00) ($953,391.00) ($953,391.00)
$4.46 $4.46 $4.46 $4.46

$2,150.36 $2,150.36 $2,150.36 $2,150.36
$1.52 $1.52 $1.52 $1.52

PY 24/25
Sum Fall Win SprCapacity Resources, $'s

$/kw-mo. $8.66 $2.99 $2.33 $2.33

PY 24/25
Sum Fall Win SprTotal Capacity Position

$ $14,879 ($752,872) ($881,617) ($869,212)

PY 24/25
Sum Fall Win SprTotal Capacity Position Revenue or (Cost)



Page 4 of 4

Net REC Position
Available Banked RECs
Hedge Policy REC Requirement
Assembly Solar
Assembly Solar Phase II
Beebe
Hart Solar
Invenergy Calhoun Solar
Landfill Project (EDL)
Landfill Project (NANR)
Pegasus

74,514 111,231 152,258 195,680 232,213
43,647 74,514 111,231 152,258 195,680

(42,655) (42,831) (43,196) (43,515) (43,974)
10,255 10,804 10,802 10,814 10,804
8,540 8,928 8,925 8,935 8,929
5,781 6,179 6,178 6,179 6,179

5,220 8,670 8,644
11,511 13,825 13,775 13,749 13,701
16,341 17,567 17,077 16,347 10,007
4,754 5,234 5,234 5,234 5,234

16,340 17,011 17,012 17,009 17,009

2023 2024 2025 2026 2027Compliance Year

Forecasted Renewable Energy Credit (REC) Position for GRAN

Forecasted REC Position by Compliance Year

N
um

be
r o

f R
EC

s

2023 2024 2025 2026 2027
-50K

0K

50K

100K

150K

200K

250K

300K

117,169

154,062

195,454

239,195

276,187

74,514

111,231

152,258

195,680

232,213

(42,655) (42,831) (43,196) (43,515) (43,974)

REC Requirement REC Supply Net REC Position

3 Year Avg Retail Sales
Hedge Policy REC Target %
Hedge Policy REC Requirement
VGP REC %
VGP REC Requirement

(284,367) (285,540) (287,970) (290,101) (293,160)
15.0% 15.0% 15.0% 15.0% 15.0%

(42,655) (42,831) (43,196) (43,515) (43,974)
0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

0 0 0 0 0

2023 2024 2025 2026 2027Compliance Year

Forecasted REC volumes are based on actual meter data when available and use the latest modeled generation for future timeframes. 
Available Banked RECs in a compliance year reflect the forecasted Net REC Position at the end of the previous year.



Charts/Graphs from Constella on Energy Market Update dated 8/8/2023  

 

 

 









Grand Haven Board of Light & Power 1700 Eaton Drive, Grand Haven, MI 49417 
 

 

Operations & Power Supply | p 616.607.1264 | f 616.846.3114 | e-mail ebooth@ghblp.org | ghblp.org 

 

 Memorandum 

To:  David Walters, General Manager 

From:  Erik Booth, Operations & Power Supply Manager 

cc:  Board of Light & Power, City Manager and City Council 

Date:  August 14, 2023 

Subject:  Authorization to MPPA for Calhoun County Solar Project Power Purchase Commitment 

On September 15, 2022, the Grand Haven Board of Light and Power (GHBLP) Board of Directors were updated on the 

various solar energy Power Purchase Commitments (PPC) that the GHBLP has made with the Michigan Public Power 

Agency (MPPA) through its Energy Services Project (ESP). Contracted solar projects currently being developed and 

those that are planned for development are facing challenges due to international trade disputes, covid related supply 

chain delays, and large material and labor cost increases over the past two years. Staff informed the Board that MPPA was 

in the process of negotiating revised contractual terms with the various counterparties to keep the three solar energy 

projects viable.  

MPPA has now finalized revised contract terms with Calhoun County Solar Project, LLC, of which MPPA’s contracted 

installed capacity from this project is 25 Megawatts (MW). MPPA’s Board of Commissioners approved the contract 

revisions during their meeting on August 9, 2023. Individual Member Authorized Representatives (MARs) of applicable 

member utilities, under their Energy Services Agreement (ESA) with MPPA, must now authorize corresponding 

modifications to each member’s respective PPCs. In other words, applicable MPPA members, through their MAR, must 

agree/authorize to reimburse MPPA the cost associated with a pro-rata portion, entitlement, or commitment from MPPA’s 

contracted capacity under terms of MPPA’s approved ESA with that member. If MPPA does not receive member PPC 

authorizations adequate to fulfill MPPA’s contracted obligations, the revised Calhoun County Solar Project agreement does 

not become effective. It should be noted that there remains a large demand for this product, at this price, time, and location 

as every MPPA member is working to increase their percentage of renewable energy in their respective power supply 

portfolios. While costs have increased, the new price remains competitive with the current market alternatives in Michigan.  

On August 10, 2023, MPPA provided GHBLP for its execution the Amended and Restated Power Purchase 

Commitment Authorization which would obligate GHBLP to purchase and pay for a percentage of the energy, capacity, 

environmental attributes (Michigan Renewable Energy Credits or MiRECS), and reactive power services from MPPA’s 

approved revised agreement with Calhoun County Solar Project, LLC. GHBLP’s PPC from MPPA under its ESA would 

be 8.8% of the total project capacity (or approximately 2.2 MWs), which is forecasted to provide an average of 

4,537 MW-hrs/year. This volume represents a forecasted annual average commitment of approximately $281,294/year.  



Grand Haven Board of Light & Power 1700 Eaton Drive, Grand Haven, MI 49417 
 

 

Operations & Power Supply | p 616.607.1264 | f 616.846.3114 | e-mail ebooth@ghblp.org | ghblp.org 

 
The original power purchase commitment was entered into on June 15, 2021, and was presented to the Board of Directors 

during their May 20, 2021, meeting. It should be noted that neither the Board’s nor City Council’s confirmation or 

concurrence of the PPC represent an approval of a “contract.” The revised Calhoun County Solar Project contract has 

been approved by MPPA’s Board of Directors (and does not require approval from its member local units of government). 

GHBLP’s contract with MPPA, under which this PPC is being authorized, was approved by the Board and City Council in 

2011. MPPA is currently under contract to supply all GHBLP’s power supply needs through the Energy Services 

Agreement and will purchase replacement energy from other sources, if necessary. This authorization designated that 

GHBLP is committing to this specific transaction under the ESA and is not a new contract with MPPA nor is it a contract 

directly with Calhoun County Solar Project, LLC.  

The major revisions in MPPA’s Calhoun County Solar Project agreement, and accordingly GHBLP’s PPC under the ESA, 

is the Commercial Operation Date (COD), which has been changed from fourth quarter 2023 to no later than May 30, 

2025, and the Contract Price, which was originally $42.65/MW-hr fixed has been revised to $62.00/MW-hr fixed (an 

increase of approximately 45%) over the 20 year term of the agreement. This will increase the amount of renewable 

energy in the GHBLP’s power supply portfolio by 1.5%.  

BLP staff is recommending Board authorization, in accordance with the GHBLP’s Energy Risk Management (ERM) 

Policy and City Council concurrence with the attached Amended and Restated Power Purchase Commitment 

Authorization, which would allow for MAR authorization. As noted above, the price of this transaction remains more 

competitive than replacing equal volumes of energy, capacity, and MiRECs from the current market. The PPC also 

remains consistent with GHBLP’s strategic direction to maintain a sustainable, economical, and diversified power supply 

portfolio, in accordance with proven and approved energy risk management practices.  

 



 

_____________________________________________________________________________________________ 
809 Centennial Way - Lansing, MI 48917 - Phone: 517.323.8919 - Fax: 517.323.8373 - www.mpower.org 

 

  
 

 

ENERGY SERVICES PROJECT 

Amended and Restated  

Power Purchase Commitment Authorization  
 

This Amended and Restated Power Purchase Commitment Authorization 
(“Authorization”) is made and entered into as of ____________, 2023, by and between 
MICHIGAN PUBLIC POWER AGENCY (“MPPA”), a public body corporate and politic of the 
State of Michigan, created pursuant to 1976 PA 448 and the Grand Haven Board of Light and 
Power (the “Participant”). 

 
WHEREAS, MPPA and the Participant previously executed a Power Purchase 

Commitment (“PPC”) that entitled the Participant to receive and pay for a percentage share of the 
Products from the 25 MW Calhoun County Solar Project Power Purchase Agreement (“Calhoun 
PPA” or “PPA”) executed between MPPA and Calhoun County Solar Project, LLC, a Delaware 
limited liability company (“Calhoun”); and  
 

WHEREAS, MPPA and Calhoun mutually negotiated a Second Amendment to the PPA 
(“Amended PPA”) to resolve potential disputes under the PPA associated with delays to the 
Commercial Operation Date (“COD”) and a new Contract Rate driven by increased costs of solar 
modules caused by international trade disputes and Engineering, Procurement and Construction 
(“EPC”) arrangements; and 
 

WHEREAS, the MPPA Board of Commissioners passed a Resolution approving the 
Amended PPA at its August 9, 2023 Board of Commissioner’s Meeting; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Amended PPA changes the Contract Rate and COD in the previously 
executed PPC between MPPA and the Participant; and  

 
WHEREAS, this Authorization is being executed by the Participant as a PPC between the 

Participant and MPPA for the Amended PPA, including the modification of the Contract Rate and 
COD from the previously executed PPC.  

 
NOW, THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements 

contained herein, it is agreed by and between MPPA and the Participant hereto as follows: 
 

   



 

_____________________________________________________________________________________________ 
809 Centennial Way - Lansing, MI 48917 - Phone: 517.323.8919 - Fax: 517.323.8373 - www.mpower.org 

 

Section 1. Calhoun County Solar Project Power Purchase Agreement 

 
The Amended PPA between MPPA and Calhoun is 25 MW.  The Participant is 

entitled to its Percentage Share (as described in Section 4 of this Authorization) of MPPA’s rights 
and obligations contained in the Amended PPA.  
 
Section 2. Delivery Point 

 

  The delivery point for the Products from the solar electric generation facility will 
be located at interconnection point(s) with the transmission system as described in the Amended 
PPA. 
 
Section 3. Term 

 

  The term of the PPC will begin upon the declared COD, currently scheduled by 
Calhoun to occur on March 1, 2025, but no later than May 30, 2025, and shall continue for 20 
years thereafter.  
 
Section 4. Participant Share Percentage  

 
The Participant is allocated the following percentage share of the Products from the 

Amended PPA:  
 

Participant Share 

Percentage 

8.80% 

 
 
Section 5. Products 

 

  Delivered Energy, the Environmental Attributes associated with the Delivered 
Energy, any benefits from the Ancillary Services associated with the Solar Project, and the 
Capacity Rights in an amount equal to the total capacity accredited to the Solar Project. 
 
Section 6. Payment 

 

  The Participant will pay to MPPA 100% of its Participant Share Percentage of the 
cost for the Products, calculated by taking the product of the delivered MWhs to MPPA and the 
Contract Rate in Exhibit A, allocated to the Participant. 
 
Section 7. Energy Services Agreement 

 

  This Authorization is subject to the terms and provisions of the Energy Services 
Agreement (“ESA”) between MPPA and the Participant.   In the event the terms of this 
Authorization conflict with the ESA, the ESA shall control. 
 



 

_____________________________________________________________________________________________ 
809 Centennial Way - Lansing, MI 48917 - Phone: 517.323.8919 - Fax: 517.323.8373 - www.mpower.org 

 

Section 8. Evidence 

 
  Authority of the Participant’s Member Authorized Representative to execute this 
Authorization is evidenced through the Participant resolution passed appropriately by the 
Participant’s governing body or through the meeting minutes of the Participant’s governing body 
where approval was granted to the Member Authorized Representative to execute this 
Authorization. 
 

Section 9. Effectiveness 

 

  This Authorization is not effective until MPPA has received executed Amended 
and Restated PPC authorizations from all other MPPA members who have their own PPC for the 
Amended PPA or upon MPPA’s waiver of the effectiveness provision in the Amended PPA. 
 
 
_____________________________ 
Member Authorized Representative 
 
 
By: ______________________________ 
 
 
Its: ______________________________ 
 
 
Dated: ______________________________ 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  



 

_____________________________________________________________________________________________ 
809 Centennial Way - Lansing, MI 48917 - Phone: 517.323.8919 - Fax: 517.323.8373 - www.mpower.org 

 

EXHIBIT A 

CONTRACT RATE 

 

 

Contract Year Contract Rate 
($/MWh) 

Years 1 - 20 $62.00 
 
 
 



 

RESOLUTION OF THE GRAND HAVEN BOARD OF LIGHT & POWER  

TO EXTEND A SEVERANCE AND HEALTH CARE PROVISION TO NON-CONTRACT EMPLOYEES OF THE 

GRAND HAVEN BOARD OF LIGHT AND POWER 

WHEREAS A PROPOSED GRAND HAVEN CITY CHARTER AMENDMENT TO DISSOLVE THE BOARD 

OF LIGHT AND POWER WILL APPEAR ON THE NOVEMBER 2023 ELECTION BALLOT, AND 

WHEREAS SHOULD THE AMENDMENT PASS, LIMITED DIRECTION FOR THE TRANSFER OF NON-

CONTRACT BOARD OF LIGHT AND POWER EMPLOYEES TO THE CITY OF GRAND HAVEN IS 

PROVIDED BY THE PROPOSAL, AND 

WHEREAS THE BOARD DESIRES TO RETAIN THESE NON-CONTRACT EMPLOYEES DURING THIS 

PERIOD OF UNCERTAINTY.  

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED THE BOARD OF LIGHT AND POWER, OR ITS SUCCESSORS 

AND ASSIGNED, RESOLVES TO PAY NON-CONTRACT EMPLOYEES SIX MONTHS’ SEVERANCE PAY 

AND SIX MONTHS OF HEALTH CARE, CONSISTENT WITH THAT PROVIDED TO OTHER EMPLOYEES 

DURING THE SIX-MONTH PERIOD, IF THEY EXPERIENCE A SUBSTANTIAL CHANGE IN BENEFITS 

OR PAY AS A RESULTS OF THE PROPOSED CHARTER CHANGE AMENDMENT BECOMING 

EFFECTIVE JANUARY 1, 2024. 

BE IT FURTER RESOLVED THAT THIS SEVERANCE AND HEALTH CARE PROVISION OPTION SHALL 

TERMINATE JUNE 30, 2024. 

 
RESOLUTION DECLARED ADOPTED 
August 17, 2023 

       
BOARD OF LIGHT AND POWER 

 
 
      By: ______________________________ 
        Its:  Board Secretary 
 

 

 


